
 
 
 

 
 
 

      
   7 December 2020 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

Bursledon Windmill Joint Management Committee 
will meet on 

Friday, 11 December 2020 

beginning at 
10:30 am 

in 
Teams Microsoft 

 
TO: Councillors Broadhurst, and Cross  
 County Councillors Grajewski, House and Kyrle 
 Mrs Sutton, Hampshire Buildings Preservation Trust 
 Parish Councillors Mrs Andrewes and Mrs Rich 
 Matt Blythe, Local Area Manager  
 Cerian Gale, and Deborah Neubauer - Hampshire Cultural Trust  
   
  
Staff Contact: Louise Austin, Case Management Officer, Email: 

louise.austin@eastleigh.gov.uk  
   
 

 
_____________________________________________________________________ 

 

AGENDA 

 
1. Apologies     
 
2. Minutes    (Pages 3 - 4)  
  
 To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 27 February 2020 
  
3. Election of Chair for 2020/2021      
  
 The Chairmanship of the Joint Management Committee alternates annually 

between the two authorities. For the year 2020/2021 the Chairman should be 
appointed from the County Council members of the committee. 

  
4. Election of Vice Chair for 2020/2021      
  
 The Vice-Chairmanship alternates annually between the two authorities. For the 

year 2020/2021 the Vice-Chairmanship should be appointed from the Borough 
Council members of the Committee. 

 

Eastleigh House 
 Upper Market Street 
Eastleigh SO50 9YN 

1



  
5. Curator's Report    (Pages 5 - 10) 
 
6. Finance Report    (Pages 11 - 12) 
 
7. Windmill Repairs Update    (Pages 13 - 34) 
 
8. Date and Venue of Next Meeting      
  
 Next meeting will take place on 25 February 2021. 
  
 

2



BURSLEDON WINDMILL JOINT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 

Thursday 27 February 2020  (10:30 am – 11:00 am) 
 

PRESENT: 
 

Representing Eastleigh Borough Council – Councillor Broadhurst 
 

Representing Bursledon Parish Council – Councillor O'Sullivan 
 
Present – Councillor Irish, Councillor Kyrle, Emma Banks, Community 
Manager Hampshire Cultural Trust, Matt Blythe, Local Area Manager, Mrs 
Sutton 

  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor House and Becky 
Wiseman 

 
 

1. MINUTES 
 

RESOLVED –  
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 26 July 2019 were agreed as a 
correct record 
 
Costed recommendation from Councillor House superseded in report 

 
 

2. CURATORS REPORT 
 

Emma Banks, the Community Manager representing the Hampshire Cultural 
Trust, presented a report on activities at or relating to Bursledon Windmill 
which covered the period from July 2019 to January 2020. 
 
There had been a delay in fundraising for repairs as there were ongoing 
discussion around where responsibilities lay. 
 
There was a discussion around marketing through various mediums including 
data capture of visitors and how to implement this in reporting. 
 
The roof platform could be accessed but it needed to be looked at urgently 
due to health and safety concerns. 
 
There was a leak in the side door which had been reported to Hampshire 
County Council (HCC) via the correct process, however there was a fully 
repairing lease in place which was raising concerns as to why the mill was still 
not fully functioning despite this and the windshaft being replaced 5 years 
ago. 
 

3

Agenda Item 2



There were currently no maintenance schedules or plans in place which 
needed addressing as the mill was not currently able to be used properly 
despite being marketed as a fully functioning mill. 
 
The Chair proposed a letter be written to HCC highlighting the current issues 
with the mill and asking them to for timescales to restore and maintain the mill 
to full working order. The letter was to be signed by both the Chair and Vice-
Chair of the Committee. 
 
It was discussed that a senior member of the Hampshire Cultural Trust be 
invited to the next meeting to provide an insight to the plans and actions that 
were in place for the mill. 
 

 
 

3. FINANCE REPORT 
 

Consideration was given to the Financial Report presented by Emma Banks 
from Hampshire Cultural Trust, which provided an overview of Bursledon 
Mill’s performance during Quarter 1 to 3 against the 2019/20 budget. 
 
It was noted that there were no specific budgets on maintenance or 
depreciation on the report. However, these areas were being addressed as 
there was an on-site maintenance budget. 

 
Currently there were no future programme projects in the financial report for 
improving facilities including toilets. 
 
Looking to promote the mill as a wedding venue to increase income, but this 
was in early stages and needed further discussion around viability including 
financial. 

 
 

4. DATE AND VENUE OF NEXT MEETING 
 

It was agreed that the next meeting would take place on 23 July 2020 at 
Bursledon Windmill and commence at 11.30am in place of the scheduled date 
of 24 July 2020. 
 
The Chair requested a meeting in the interim with Hampshire County Council 
and Hampshire Cultural Trust to share concerns over the lack of planned 
maintenance and costings to return the mill to full working order. 

 

4



1 
 

  
 AGENDA ITEM NO. x 

  

Committee: BURSLEDON WINDMILL 
JOINT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 

Date of Meeting: FRIDAY 11 DECEMBER 

Title of Report: COMMUNITY MANAGER’S REPORT 

Author: EMMA BANKS  

  
Purpose: 
  
 
  
 
 
1 Providing a Welcoming and Well Maintained Site 
 

1.1 Windmill Service Delivery 
 
In February, before the new season began we ran a pre-season training session and deep 
clean on site with the staff and volunteer team.  
 
The Windmill opened for the 2020 season on March 7th and kicked off with a special 
‘Opening Weekend’ event. This was closely followed by Science Weekend on 14th & 15th 
March, event linked to British Science Week. There were a wealth of activities with make 
and takes and a science experiment table. These events were well attended with over 150 
people attending in the first two weekends.  
 
In March 2020 the site was closed due to the COVID-19 Pandemic, the Visitor Services 
Assistant, Jeff Witcher was furloughed. The Miller/Caretaker, Gary Freeman and 
Community Manager, Emma Banks continued to work over the lockdown period ensuring 
regular Health & Safety checks and essential maintenance we carried out. 
 

Report on activities at or relating to Bursledon Windmill 
Covering period Feb 2020 2019-Nov 2020 

5

Agenda Item 5



2 
 

Prior to reopening the Community Manager carried out a Covid-19 risk assessment for the 
site. A number of measures were implemented, including limiting numbers of people on 
site, a suite of informational signage installed, hand sanitiser stations installed and face 
coverings issued to team members. All team members attended a ‘Return to the 
Workplace’ training session led by the Community Manager outlining the new measures in 
place. 
 
Following the training the site was opened to the public on 25th July. 
 
The team, led by Visitor Services Assistant, Jeff Witcher, developed a new innovative 
events programme to adapt to the Covid-19 regulations, adhering to limited numbers and 
social distancing. We were also able to run Windmill tours to one family group at a time.  
 
This event programme included outdoor yoga sessions, a live music gig, and ploughman’s 
supper and family nature crafts. Due to the popularity of this event offer and a regular flow 
of weekend visitors the site saw over 700 visitors from mid-July until October.  
 

 
Figure 1 Yoga at Bursledon Windmill 

 
Due to work being carried out to the Windmill cap and concerns regarding the condition of 
the stocks and sails it was decide to close a month earlier than planned, at the end of 
October.  
 

1.2 Visitor Figures 
 
The visitor figures for the 2019-2020 season were fantastic. We completed the season 
currently 37% ahead of budget in terms of visitor figures, despite not completing a full 
month in March. This was a fantastic achievement for the team. This has mostly been 

6



3 
 

achieved due the popularity of the special event weekends, especially the huge success of 
the Harvest Weekend and Christmas Fayre.  
 
The 2020-21 season was challenging, however we were pleased to welcome over 700 
visitors from mid-July until October. This was due primarily to the popularity of the event 
offer and a regular flow of weekend visitors to the site. However, as we were unable to run 
some of the larger scale regular summer events so there was an obvious impact on visitor 
numbers.  
 
 

Year April May June July Aug Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Totals 

 
2011 – 
2012 

581 645 389 435 408 244 261 258 86 159 227 173 3866 

 
2012 – 
2013 

385 285 227 251 332 316 433 253 188 62 228 364 3314 

 
2013 – 
2014 

252 299 278 388 489 784 275 215 95 85 227 332 3719 

2014 – 
2015  

252 422 318 362 0 121 90 290 72 390 332 503 3152 

2015-
2016 

298 383 315 282 563 274 431 129 24 109 142 263 3213 

2016-
2017 

170 124 150 142 309 160 148 59 Closed Closed Closed 142 1404 

2017 - 
2018 

152 124 171 208 519 377 350 106 
169 
Closed 

Closed Closed 174 2350 

2018 - 
2019 

208 178 295 179 434 915 323 197 
207 
Closed 

Closed Closed 323 3259 

2019-
2020 

206 276 567 238 869 805 339 409 
399 
Closed 

Closed Closed 153  4261 

2020-
2021 

Closed Closed Closed 34 198 345 99 47     723 

 
 
 
 
2   Caring for Collections, Promoting Access, and Providing Specialist Knowledge 
and Advice 
 
2.1 Caring for collections  
 
During June 2020 an annual condition inspection report for the Windmill was carried out by 
Bonwick Heritage Consultancy. (Report attached). The report highlighted a number of 
areas where repair works are required and highlighted the risks associated with lack of 
action. Hampshire Cultural Trust is now working with Hampshire County Council to 
produce a timetable for these repairs to be carried out.  
 

7



4 
 

Due to Covid-19 planned works by the HCT team to the safety barriers in the cap were 
postponed. Repairs to the wooden roof of the cap were carried out by HCC in November 
2020 and further emergency works to remove the stocks and sails are planned for 
December 2020. This will enable them to be condition surveyed. This survey will be the 
basis for and planned repairs to the stocks and sails. Under the current agreements HCC 
are responsible for any structural works needed. The Head of Community, Facilities 
Manager and Community Manager is meeting with the HCT fundraising team to discuss 
how we can support this process.  
 
During July 2020 a review of the Health & Safety communication with visitors was carried 
out, this led to new signage being produced and a change in the safety briefing given to 
visitors when they purchase tickets and intend to visit the Mill building.  
 

 
Figure 2 New safety signage for the Windmill 

 
 
3 Inspiring Learning and Community Engagement  

3.1  Community Engagement 
 
 
Horizon 20:20 
 
The Horizon programme has continued to support vulnerable young people in The Bridge 
Education Centre. During the time when face-to-face activity was not possible HCT 
secured funding through Youth Endowment Fund to offer resources and online sessions 
for young people. 20 Creative Boxes shared out by the Bridge Education Centre. 
 
The following workshops took place in the Spring Term.  

8



5 
 

- February - 2 Printmaking with artist Sarah Gaiger  
- March  - 5 Animation sessions  

 
64 young people participated in these sessions and 20 people received creative boxes as 
part of the Create and Connect programme.  
 
In August there were continued opportunities to engage with online workshops and 
resources open to young people in Eastleigh through Hampshire Children’s Services.  
  
With felt making sessions with artist Jono Retallick and in November artist led session with 
Thomas Cooke. 30 young people participated in these sessions.  
 

 
Figure 3 Printmaking workshop 

 
 
4    Marketing and Communications 
 
4.1 Print material 
 
The autumn edition of “What’s On for Families” and featuring Bursledon Windmill were 
delivered in October. 20,000 copies were printed and it was circulated via our distributors, 
Culture Calling, to TICs, libraries, museums, accommodation providers, educational 
establishments, attractions, arts centres, theatres etc. As this features many events for 
Halloween/October half term. 
  
4.2 Social Media 
 
HCT Facebook now has over 5000 “likes” and twitter over 6000 followers. Events at 
Bursledon Windmill are promoted on both social media sites on an ongoing basis.   
 

9



6 
 

The Bursledon Windmill Facebook page is still growing steadily and now has 1782 ‘likes’ 
and is proving to be a very strong marketing tool for special events. We have been actively 
posting and taking part in social media themes. 
 
The Instagram page is also growing with a 607 followers since we started the page in June 
2019. 
 
 
4.3 Culture on Call 
 
When venues closed an online offer, Culture On Call was developed by HCT and 
launched 3 April. From 3 April until 31 October there were 57,118 page views and 26,969 
sessions. You can view online content at  https://www.cultureoncall.com/ including the 
Eastleigh exhibition Life Through The Lens https://www.cultureoncall.com/life-in-eastleigh-
through-the-lens/ and Bursledon Windmill Tree Trail.  
 
 
4.4 Other Projects 
 
The Bursledon Windmill venue leaflet continues to be produced and is professionally 
distributed across the region and is at every HCT venue as well as Bursledon itself.  
 
 
 

Emma Banks, November 2020 

10

https://www.cultureoncall.com/
https://www.cultureoncall.com/life-in-eastleigh-through-the-lens/
https://www.cultureoncall.com/life-in-eastleigh-through-the-lens/


Burlsedon Windmill JMC Finance Report

Expenditure Description Actual Q2 20-21 Budget 2020-21

Community Manager 1 day a week, operational mangement £5,213.64 £10,427.28

Miller/Caretaker 3 days a week from March to November, 1 day a week from December - February £6,477.50 £12,955.00

Visitor Services Assistant 2 days a week from March to November, 1 day a month throughout the year £3,750.33 £7,500.66

Collections team 2 days a month, windmill conservation, maintenance £2,800.00 £5,600.00

Head of Community 1.5 days a month, strategic and team management £2,493.00 £4,986.00

Casual Staff Additional support for events and out of hours visits £82.00 £350.00

Programming

Events workshops, family activities, event days £1,309.00 £500.00

Venue Management

Premises Costs Business rates, cleaning, refuge £475.00 £728.00

Operating Costs Retail and Café £282.00 £780.00

Central Support

Central fundraising 3 days across the year - focused on fundraising campaign for windmill restoration £101.13 £606.75

Central marketing Website, social media, digital content development, local press promotion £1,058.55 £2,117.10

Finance, HR and IT Central costs around staff, facilities and finance £8,568.32 £17,136.63

Total £32,610.46 £63,687.42

Income Description Actual Q2 20-21 Budget 2020-21

HCT/HCC Through core funding from HCC and HCT £19,048.46 £33,092.20

Bursledon Earned Income Admissions, Events, Retail, Café £3,434.00 £8,987.00

Eastleigh Borough Council Annual grant £9,028.00 £18,056.00

Bursledon Windmill Annual grant £1,100.00 £2,200.00

Total £32,610.46 £62,335.20

Additional HCT funding secured during COVID-19

Government business support grant £235,000 £10k for BWM

Culture Recovery Fund £480,000

National Heritage Lottery Fund Emergency Fund £41,000

Job Rention Scheme to cover furloughed VSA role during first Lockdown £1,352.22

Staff Costs

11

A
genda Item

 6



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  1 

 
 
 
 
 
Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire – Condition Inspection Report 
Bonwick Heritage Consultancy 17th June 2020. 
 
The mill was inspected by Luke Bonwick on 16th May 2020. 
 
This inspection report comprises the following sections: 
 

1. Executive summary        1 

2. Structural elements – condition       2 

3. Mechanical elements – condition      8 

4. Recommendations for repair and preparation for milling   11 

 
Figures 1-15          13 

 
 
 
 
 
 
1. Executive summary 
 
No major changes in the condition of the mill have occurred since Bonwick HC’s previous update 
report of July 2019. 
 
Repairs to the reefing stage are still required and the condition of the stage continues to worsen. 
 
Repairs to the brickwork around the south door at first floor level are still required as dampness 
remains evident. 
 
Extensive repairs to the timber stocks and sails are still required. The condition of the stocks is 
becoming a cause for significant concern.  
 
When turned by hand, the stocks were noted to be loose in the poll end. Before the sails are 
turned by wind power again the stocks should be properly re-wedged and the metal shackles 
around the poll end tightened. 
 
The poll end of the windshaft is deteriorating because the cap over the end grain has still not 
been installed. Repairs and redecoration to this element are required urgently. 
 
Reconstruction of the chain purchase wheel at the rear of the cap is now urgently required. 
  

13

Agenda Item 7



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  2 

2. Structural elements – condition 
 
2.1 Reefing stage 
 
This section from the 2018 report is reproduced for clarity. 
 
The principal components of the stage, referred to below, are identified in Figures 6 & 7. 
 
Numeral LH 

spreaders 
RH 
spreaders 

Principal hz 
beams 

Principal struts to 
ground 

I Fair Fair Fair Fair 
II Sound Sound Fair Fair 
III Sound Fair Fair Fair 
IV Fair Fair Fair Fair 
V Fair Sound Fair Fair 
VI Sound Fair  Poor Fair 
VII Fair Fair Poor (split) Fair 
VIII Fair Fair Fair Fair 
IX Fair Fair Poor (split) Fair 
X Fair Fair Fair Poor (split) 
XI Fair Poor Poor (split) Fair 
XII Poor Fair Fair Fair 
XIII Fair Sound Fair Fair 
XIV Sound Poor Poor Fair 
XV Fair Fair Fair Fair 
XVI Fair Poor Fair Fair 
XVII Fair Fair Poor (split) Fair 
XVIII Sound Sound Fair Fair 
XIX Fair Fair Fair Poor (split & ivy) 
XX Sound Poor Poor (split) Poor (woodworm) 
XXI Sound Fair Poor (split) Fair 
XXII Sound Fair Fair Fair 
XXIII Fair Fair Fair Fair 
XXIV Poor Sound Fair Fair 

 
Connections The connections between the handrail posts and principal beams are all 

weak and wobbly. The joints between the ends of the handrails and the 
posts are very short and weathered, and therefore structurally weak. 

Handrail posts All are weak and weathered. 
Upper handrails All are weathered and (as stated above) their connection to the posts is 

poor. The upper corners of the handrails should be curved. 
Intermediate 
rails (3x) 

All are weathered. Two additional rails were added above and below the 
central rail at some time after the original 1990s restoration – 
presumably for safety reasons. 

Girding beams 
(kick boards) 

Girding beams (Kick boards) – all are weathered but connections 
between boards are strong due to the addition of metal angle plates. 

Stretcher joists These are positioned underneath the feet of the two short flights of 
external steps from the millstone floor. They are all in poor condition. 

Deck boards These appear to have been renewed at the time of the 2014 repairs. 
Although they are generally sound with robust stainless steel fixings, 
some boards have been fitted to defective spreader plates. In 2020 
two of the deck board ‘panels’ (between the main timbers), on 
opposite sides of the mill, were loose when walked upon. 

 

14



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  3 

Summary and repair requirements 
 
All of the oak timbers of the staging are now heavily weathered externally. The condition of the 
timbers varies from relatively new and sound to weakened original (1980s) timbers.  
 
The staging was constructed from untreated, unpainted timber. Most of this would have been 
‘green’ when it was installed and consequently a number of timbers have twisted and split as 
they have dried out. 
 
In view of its age and the variable condition of its component parts, it is recommended that the 
stage is entirely renewed, using seasoned oak wherever possible. This could either be done in 
one phase, or it could be carried out gradually as labour and funds allow, focusing on the 
weakest areas as a priority. 
 
When the staging is renewed, the surfaces and mating faces of the timbers should be oiled and 
stained a suitable dark colour. This will better protect them from the effects of the weather and 
extend their life. It will prevent a repeat of the current situation where water can lodge in the 
joints between unpainted timber surfaces, creating a ‘soggy sandwich’ which allows wet rot to 
take hold. 
 
The design of the connections between adjacent timbers should also be improved in order to 
strengthen the assembly. Alternative joint details should be substituted in certain areas, eg. 
between the handrail posts and the principal horizontal beams. In other areas, bespoke 
galvanised steel brackets should be added to provide reinforcement. 
 
Consideration should be given to improving or covering over the connection between the 
principal beams of the stage and the tower walls. Here, the beam ends rest on brick corbels and 
birds have nested in the gaps; the nests retain moisture which can be absorbed by the beam 
ends and the tower brickwork, creating conditions for decay. 
 
 
The above comments were written in 2018. The reefing stage remains unrepaired and 
continues to deteriorate. If this is allowed to continue its condition will become unsafe for staff, 
volunteers and visitors to walk on. 
 
 
 
  

15



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  4 

2.2 Walls 
 
Externally 
 
The tower brickwork has been decorated with a matt black finish externally. This is generally in 
a good condition but will need to be re-coated within the next three years. 
 
This comment was written in 2018. The tower brickwork now requires external redecoration. 
Before repainting, the north side of the tower requires cleaning of green algae which has begun 
to form on it. 
 
 
As described in the table above, the area of brickwork around the south west door to the reefing 
stage is showing signs of cracking and damage (Figure 6). This is due to the extremes of sun, 
rain and the prevailing winds which buffet this face of the tower relentlessly throughout the 
year. Repair of this area is required urgently. 
 
This comment was written in 2018. Although minor repairs were undertaken to the door 
frame in this area, the external brickwork was not repaired. The repairs have not been effective 
at halting the ingress of rainwater in this area. This part of the mill therefore remains damp and 
the slugs and mould have returned to the internal walls (visible below first floor height at 
mezzanine level). 
 
Internally 
 
The limewash finish to the interior brickwork is in an excellent condition. The sole area of 
concern is immediately below first floor level on the south west side. This area of brickwork is 
only visible and accessible from the mezzanine platform. 
 
Here, the brickwork has clearly been affected by water ingress around the south west stage door 
for many months. There is a build-up of mould on the wall surface and slugs are present (Figure 
4).  
 
This problem is associated with the damage to the brickwork visible externally. Repair of the 
tower exterior surrounding the door is urgently required to allow the tower wall to dry out in this 
area.  
 
These comments were written in 2018. Minor remedial works to prevent water ingress in 
this area have not been effective and more extensive works are required. 
 
  

16



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  5 

2.3 Internal floors 
 
First floor beams and joists 
 
Active woodworm was identified inside the mill above ground floor level (around the spur 
gearing at mezzanine level) in 2020.  
 
One of the first floor joists appears to have a new infestation (Figure 5) as do some of the cogs 
in the stone nuts. A box of spare cogs for the gear wheels was so riddled with woodworm that it 
had to be taken out of the mill and disposed of immediately. 
 
Spray treatment for woodworm by a specialist firm should be commissioned urgently to ensure 
that any active woodworm is eliminated and not allowed to spread throughout the mill. 
 
Spray treatment could be limited to the ground and mezzanine floors only, extending up to the 
undersides of the first floor floorboards. Provided that a thorough inspection of the millstone 
floor is carried out and no active worm is identified, it may not be necessary to spray these 
areas. This advice should be checked with the specialists carrying out the spray treatment. 
 
  

17



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  6 

2.4 Cap roof 
 
Cladding 
 
There are many nooks and crannies in the cap which are full of cobwebs, spiders and dead flies. 
These prevent the true condition of the weatherboarding in all areas from being inspected. They 
should be thoroughly brushed and vacuumed out as a high priority. 
 
The cap’s weatherboard cladding is decorated with a black finish externally. The boarding on the 
sides of the cap is in better condition than that of the front and rear gables. Here, numerous 
splits are visible and the cladding has begun to leak. The need for repair is urgent in order to 
prevent further deterioration which could affect the oak cap ribs and other structural timbers. It 
should first be made weatherproof while plans to re-board the front and rear walls of the cap are 
formulated. 
 
In the long term (5-10 years), the cladding of the cap is likely to require wholesale renewal. 
 
These comments were written in 2018. Although it appears sound and complete when 
viewed at a distance from ground level, the front and rear gable walls of the cap (in particular) 
continue to deteriorate steadily (Figures 8 & 9).  
 
It would be comparatively cheap and simple to replace 5-10 weatherboards on each wall, 
beginning at the top of the front and rear walls. These are the most vulnerable areas and the 
boards are in a correspondingly poor condition compared with other areas. 
 
 
Cap base frame 
 
This is generally well protected by the roof cladding with suitable flashings and soakers, 
particularly at the four corners where the joints of the cap frame are exposed. 
 
At the rear LH corner there is evidence of water penetration through the cladding which has 
begun to affect the rear end of the LH sheer. This requires further investigation; it may be that 
the splits in the weatherboards are allowing rainwater to penetrate here. 
 
The rear ends of both sheers are capped with Code 4 lead sheet where they pass through the 
weatherboarding and are exposed to the elements (Figure 12). Although this has served well to 
protect the vulnerable upper faces of the sheers, some wide cracks are visible in the undersides 
of both timbers at their exposed rear ends. These areas should be carefully inspected from a 
cherry picker or access scaffold, and any repairs carried out at the same time. 
 
The rear cross beam rests over the rear ends of the sheers and supports the chain purchase 
wheel (Figures 11 & 12). At its ends, degradation of the upper surface of the timber is visible. 
The ends should be repaired, redecorated and covered with sheet metal to protect them and 
avoid further deterioration of this timber. 
 
These comments were written in 2018. No action has since been taken to protect these 
timbers and they remain vulnerable to deterioration. 
 
  

18



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  7 

Barrier frame inside cap 
 
A wooden frame comprising barriers and access gates has been erected inside the cap (Figure 
9). At the start of recent repairs to the windshaft/brake wheel, the frame was found to be 
rickety and was temporarily reinforced with extra brackets. 
 
The intended purpose of the wooden barrier frame is unclear. In practical terms, the frame is 
large and bulky with sharp edges and impedes safe movement around the cap for the purposes 
of maintenance. It makes the movement of people and equipment into and around the cap more 
hazardous than it would otherwise be.  
 
It is recommended that the existing frame is removed and a more appropriate system of safety 
barriers is designed. This should incorporate improved joinery details and smooth edges to avoid 
clothing being snagged on the components.  
 
 
The above comments were written in 2018. The safety barriers and frame have since been 
slightly modified but continue to impede access around the cap for maintenance (Figure 10). The 
gate and the new platform over the windshaft have sharp fittings and edges which are 
dangerous whenever one or other is used to allow access around, into or out of the cap. 
 
  

19



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  8 

3. Mechanical elements – condition 
 
3.1 Winding gear 
 
Reduction gears 
 
The winding gear appears to operate satisfactorily. Close inspection of the reduction gears in the 
cap shows the teeth to be devoid of grease. This will cause them to wear out more quickly and 
make them stiffer in operation. 
 
Grease should be applied to the gear teeth on a quarterly basis with a paintbrush, taking care 
not to over-grease the meshing gears. The twist-greasers on the bearings should be checked for 
correct operation, refilled as necessary and used on a monthly basis. As with the gear teeth, the 
bearings should not be over-greased. 
 
The comments above were written in 2018. The internal gears still appear to be suffering 
from a lack of lubricant. In addition to checking the bearings as stated above, a thin coating of 
grease on the meshing gear teeth is all that is required. 
 
Chain purchase wheel 
 
The chain wheel carries an endless chain which extends almost to reefing stage level for the 
purposes of turning the cap so that the sails face the oncoming wind. The wheel comprises a 
central hub of cast iron, oak spokes and a segmental oak rim. A central channel in the rim 
contains metal forks which engage the chain. The whole wheel is decorated with black paint. 
 
The woodwork of the wheel was renewed during the 1980s. Some of the spokes and parts of the 
rim are now severely decayed due to rainwater lodging in the joints and being unable to escape. 
 
The chain wheel now requires substantial rebuilding. Any parts not in perfect condition should be 
replaced. The design of the arms and rim should be reassessed to improve the longevity of the 
rebuilt wheel. An indestructible and virtually maintenance-free solution would be to renew the 
arms and rim in stainless or galvanised mild steel, which could be decorated black after a short 
period of exposure to the weather. 
 
The comments above were written in 2018. Since then the chain wheel has continued to 
deteriorate steadily and first aid repairs with a metal strap have been applied. This is 
insufficient and the wheel urgently requires comprehensive rebuilding. 
 
  

20



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  9 

3.2 Sails 
 
Condition of stocks and sail frames 
 
The sail frames were renewed in 2014 and set up again on the existing stocks which, by this 
time, were deemed not to have deteriorated too badly. 
 
Five years on, the external surfaces of the stocks are showing signs of cracking. This is most 
noticeable around the innermost fixings which clamp the sail frames to the stocks. These fixings 
are located close to the poll end at the centre of the assembly, which is the area of greatest 
stress.  
 
For security, additional fixings in the form of wooden ‘stop blocks’ have been added to the stocks 
at their junction with the windshaft. These cause additional fixings to penetrate the timber just 
at the point of greatest weakness. Water entering around these fixings will cause rot to spread 
inside the timber without it being visible externally. 
 
The sail frames themselves are only five years old, but due to the time constraints imposed by 
the 2014 project, these were made in a very short space of time. It was not possible to obtain 
full-length pieces of timber for the outer hemlath or the central uplong of each sail, so these 
components had to be made in two lengths and are consequently weaker than they should be.  
 
Some of the fixings are undersized and have been over-tightened so that they pull into the 
timber. 
 
The joints between many of the timbers are giving cause for concern. A process that often gets 
omitted during the construction of sails is the painting of the mating surfaces prior to assembly. 
If this is not done, the joints will absorb and hold moisture, which very soon results in serious 
decay. 
 
Summary and repair requirements 
 
The current appearance of the stocks and the sail frames, coupled with the 
considerable age of the stocks, gives serious cause for concern. It would be unwise to 
continue to run the sails year on year without putting in place plans for a major overhaul. This 
can only be done by lowering the sails and stocks to ground level, stripping off the existing paint 
finish and thoroughly examining the condition of the timbers. 
 
It is likely that, when this is done, one or possibly both stocks will require renewal. In addition, 
the sail frames are likely to require extensive repair which may also amount to the renewal of 
the majority of the key timbers. 
 
 
The above comments were written in 2018. The stocks continue to deteriorate steadily and 
evidence of this can be seen by opening the storm hatch at the front of the cap. The cracks in 
the stocks are slowly advancing beyond the fixings which is a clear sign of continuing 
deterioration (Figures 13-15).  
 
Eventually this will lead to a level of weakness that will cause one or other stock to break in half 
and collapse onto the reefing stage. It is not possible to predict when this will happen but with 
every winter the damaging effects of strong winds and rain will cause the decay to advance. 
During Storm Ciara and Storm Dennis in 2020 the stocks and sails at two windmills in 
Buckinghamshire and Essex broke in this way. Comprehensive repairs to the sails and stocks 
should be carried out as soon as possible. 
 

21



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  10 

 
 
3.3 Windshaft 
 
The poll end of the windshaft has not been treated or decorated since it was installed in 2014. 
This now requires drenching in clear, spirit-based timber preservative followed by redecoration.  
 
A tight-fitting cap of sheet metal, clamped and fixed over the exposed end grain of the shaft at 
its forward end, would prevent water ingress into the heart of the timber at this vulnerable 
position. This feature may well extend the life of the windshaft significantly. 
 
The above comments were written in 2018. The exposed forward end of the windshaft has 
now withstood six winters of wind and rain. This has penetrated the end grain and the mortices 
that accommodate the stocks. Cracks have begun to open up in the timber around these areas 
(Figure 15). 
 
If attended to soon, this deterioration can be halted. It is recommended that the forward end of 
the shaft is treated with linseed oil, the cracks and shakes are filled with linseed putty and the 
poll end is then redecorated with oil-based paint. 
 
The cap for the end of the shaft has been made but not fitted. It is recommended that this is 
installed once the poll end has been repaired and painted. 
 
Deterioration of the forward end of the shaft has probably contributed to the current looseness 
of the sail stocks. These should be re-wedged and the metal shackles re-tightened before the 
sails are again turned by wind power. 
 
 
  

22



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  11 

4. Recommendations for repair and preparation for milling 
 
4.1 Summary of current condition 
 
REFER TO BONWICK HC’s PREVIOUS REPORTS OF JULY 2019 and MARCH 2019. 
 
2018 
Report 
reference 

Component Condition 

   
2.1 Reefing stage Unchanged. The stage still requires extensive repair 

and the condition of at least two panels of decking 
boards has become unsafe.  

2.2  Doors and windows Unchanged. Extensive repairs to the south west door 
frame and brickwork around it are urgently required. 
These should aim to prevent the build-up of dampness 
in this area. 

2.3  Walls Externally: unchanged. Cleaning and external 
redecoration are still required. 

2.5  Cap roof Unchanged. The barrier frame inside the cap roof 
remains in position, making access into and around the 
cap (for staff members) difficult.  
Unchanged. The cap cladding continues to deteriorate 
and the front and rear gables now require partial re-
boarding urgently. 

3.1 Winding gear Unchanged. Chain purchase wheel now requires 
urgent, comprehensive repairs. 

3.2 Sails Unchanged. The condition of the stocks supporting the 
sails remains of great concern. The sails and stocks 
require urgent removal, inspection and comprehensive 
repair. The stocks require re-wedging in the poll end 
and the fixings tightening immediately, before they can 
turn by wind power. 

3.3 Windshaft Unchanged. The cap over the end of the windshaft still 
needs to be fitted and the poll end repaired and 
redecorated urgently to prevent further deterioration. 

3.4 Wallower Unchanged. The wallower still requires surveying and 
truing up. 

 
 
  

23



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  12 

4.2 Suggested repair priorities 

• The cap needs to be watertight so it doesn't leak and contaminate the grain, flour and 
food surfaces. The same is true of the brickwork around the south west door to the 
reefing stage.  

• The external winding gear (chain wheel) needs to be robust enough to be used without 
breaking, and the gears properly lubricated inside the cap.  

• The sail stocks need to be properly wedged in the poll end so they do not flail around and 
cause damage to the poll end - and themselves - as they turn.  

• The poll end itself needs attention to ensure it does not crack up further which would 
cause the stocks to loosen and ultimately the poll end to break under the weight/strain of 
the stocks and sails.  

• The reefing stage needs to repaired to ensure the continuing safety of those who operate 
the mill and visitors who access the stage.  

In view of the above requirements, the following priority order is suggested: 

1. Poll end repairs and stocks re-wedging – by a professional millwright. 
2. Dismantle and rebuild chain wheel. 
3. Carry out running repairs to the reefing stage in advance of major repairs over the longer 

term.  
4. Dismantle sails and stocks using lorry-based hiab crane (rather than larger mobile crane) 

and cherry picker. Repair weatherboards on front and rear of cap from cherry picker. 
5. Re-paint tower from cherry picker and carry out essential repairs to reefing stage door 

and brickwork on SW side. 
6. Repair stocks and sails on site (simultaneously to step 5). 
7. Construct new reefing stage off site; bring to site; dismantle existing stage and install 

new one. 

4.3 Preparation for milling 

Ensure grain storage bins, millstone cases and spouts are fully cleaned before and after every 
use (or period of use if milling on a daily basis). 

Consider re-commissioning the flour dresser so that white flour as well as wholemeal can be 
produced.  

Investigate the possibility and cost of installing a standalone electric motor attached to one pair 
of millstones (possibly one of the currently disused pairs). This would allow milling to be 
demonstrated and flour to be produced on days when it is not possible to use the sails.  

  

24



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  13 

Figures 1-15 
 

 
 
Figure 1: Section through the mill as restored showing the key structural and mechanical parts. 
 
 

25



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  14 

      
 
Figures 2 & 3: External and internal doors on the south west side of the millstone floor. Water 
ingress either side of and below this door continues to cause problems internally. 
 
  

26



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  15 

 

 
 
Figure 4: Evidence of dampness and slug infestation on the wall directly below the south west 
door. Photographed from the mezzanine floor above the ground floor. 
 

 
 
Figure 5: One of the joists supporting the first floor. This appears to show a new infestation of 
furniture beetle (woodworm) attacking the sapwood of the floor joist. 
 

27



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  16 

 
 
 

 

Figures 6 & 7: 
 
Details of the external reefing 
stage (photographed in 2018) 
with key components identified: 
 
A - Spreader plate 
B - Principal horizontal bearer 
C – Principal strut 
D – Girding beam (kick board) 
E – Decking board 
F – Handrail post 
G – Upper handrail 

28



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  17 

 
 

 
 
Figure 8: Interior of the cap looking forward showing split and leaking weatherboards on the 
upper part of the front elevation. 
 
 

29



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  18 

 
 
Figure 9: The interior of the cap looking rearwards. In the foreground is the platform over the 
windshaft with safety handrail and gate to the right. In the background are the access doors to 
the external platform and chain wheel. Above the aperture some of the weatherboards are split. 
 

 

Figure 10: The gate portion of the safety 
handrail in the cap. This feature is too 
wide and impedes access around this 
area of the cap. 
 

30



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  19 

 
 

 
 
Figure 11: The chain wheel continues to deteriorate steadily and a metal strap has been applied 
as a holding repair. Comprehensive repairs to the spokes and rim of the wheel are needed 
urgently. 
 
 
 
 

31



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  20 

 
 
Figure 12: View of the external platform showing the weathered upper faces of the structural 
timbers. Where these are not covered with sheet metal they continue to deteriorate due to lack 
of maintenance. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

32



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  21 

 
 
Figure 13: View looking out of the storm hatch at the front of the cap showing the sail stocks 
and poll end. Cracks can be seen in the rear stock extending past the metal fixings. 
 

 
 
Figure 14: With the sweeps rotated 90 degrees, the cracks can also be seen on the opposite side 
of the rear stock. 

33



Bursledon Windmill, Hampshire          Condition Inspection Report          Bonwick HC, June 2020  22 

 
 
 

 
 
Figure 15: Deterioration of the corner of the front stock is visible, as is the motley collection of 
wedges that have been used to maintain its position in the poll end. The outer of the two 
shackles is loose. Between the two shackles an area of decay in the poll end can be seen. This 
should be attended to as a high priority to prevent further deterioration. 
 
 
 
 
END OF REPORT 
 
 
 

34


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Curator's Report
	6 Finance Report
	7 Windmill Repairs Update

